I. INTRODUCTION 

This appeal case is about the proper remedy for a breach of 

contract.  The contract is a one-page term sheet negotiated and agreed in 

the course of the underlying litigation. The term sheet provided for a cash 

payment by the defendants, Allen Grant and his company, Algo Inc., in 

exchange for mutual releases.  Payment was due in five years.  

There was no interest due under the settlement term sheet; instead, 

the amount due was stepped up periodically over the course of the five 

years, depending on when it was paid.  If paid at any time before August 

1, 2014, the payment due was $850,000.  If not paid until the end of the 

full five-year term, the amount due was $1 million.  Thus, there was an 

incentive but no obligation to pay before the end of the five-year term.  

The settlement term sheet contemplated that the parties would 

agree to a more detailed settlement agreement, promissory note, deed of 

trust, and other documents incorporating its terms and setting forth such 

additional terms as the parties might agree to.  But the parties never got to 

that.  Instead, the settlement term sheet is the only written agreement 

between the parties.    

In order to provide the security contemplated by the settlement 

term sheet, Mr. Grant had to make certain arrangements with his business 

partner (not a party to this case) in an unrelated venture.  But the business 
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partner proved unwilling to enter into these arrangements.  As a result, Mr. 

Grant was not able to provide the security contemplated in the settlement 

term sheet.  

Washington Federal’s initial response was to disregard the 

settlement and resume litigation on the underlying claims.  Washington 

Federal moved for summary judgment on those claims and lost: the 

motion was denied.  Washington Federal then went to plan B, amending 

its complaint to state a claim for breach of the settlement term sheet.  

Washington Federal eventually won summary judgment on that claim.  

Mr. Grant does not agree with that result but chose not to appeal it. 

Instead, the issues on Mr. Grant’s appeal concern the amount awarded by 

the trial court. 

It is a bedrock principle of the law of contract remedies that they 

should put the non-breaching party in the position that it would have been 

in but for the breach.  Here, not only the breach but entry of final 

judgment happened well within the initial period set forth in the settlement 

term sheet during which payment due was $850,000.  Both at the time of 

the breach and at the time of the judgment, this was all Washington 

Federal was entitled to under the settlement term sheet.  This amount 

could have been paid up until August 1, 2014 with no additional interest, 
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penalties, or payments of any kind.  Nonetheless, the trial court initially 

awarded Washington Federal $1 million, with no prejudgment interest. 

On cross-motions for reconsideration, the trial court corrected this 

error and changed the principal amount of the judgment to $850,000. 

However, inexplicably, the court tacked prejudgment interest on to this 

amount from the date on which Mr. Grant was deemed to have breached.   

Prejudgment interest should compensate a party for being deprived 

of a liquidated sum of money from the date of the breach to the date of 

judgment.  Here, Washington Federal was not deprived of any sum of 

money over that time period.  To the contrary, Mr. Grant could have 

waited another 2 months after the date of the judgment and still owed no 

more than $850,000 under the parties’ agreement.  Indeed, the breach that 

Washington Federal complained of was not—and could not have been—

the failure to pay money; instead, the breach was the failure to provide 

security.  While a breach of that nature certainly is material (and allowed 

Washington federal to sue for breach before payment was due), it did not 

deprive Washington Federal of a liquidated sum of money and therefore 

could not support an award of prejudgment interest.  

The trial court also awarded Washington Federal attorneys’ fees 

incurred in its action for breach of the settlement term sheet, even though 

the term sheet did not provide for recovery of attorneys’ fees.  It is not as 
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though such recovery was implicit or overlooked.  To the contrary, the 

settlement term sheet expressly addressed attorneys’ fees but provided that 

they could only be recovered in the event of a default under the note to be 

negotiated—i.e., for failure to pay within the five-year term.   

Not only did the trial court have no basis to award attorneys’ fees 

for enforcement of the settlement term sheet in the absence of the statute 

or contract providing for them:  it went further, awarding Washington 

Federal fees incurred in its attempt to win summary judgment on its 

underlying claims—work that was unrelated (and indeed, contrary) to the 

settlement term sheet pursuing claims on which Washington Federal did 

not prevail. 

Accordingly, Mr. Grant and Algo (collectively referred to as “Mr. 

Grant” or “Appellants”) appeal the trial court’s award of prejudgment 

interest and attorneys’ fees. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Prejudgment Interest.  Prejudgment interest is to 

compensate a plaintiff for being improperly deprived of the use value of 

money.  Here, the alleged breach did not deprive Washington Federal of 

any money.  The trial court erred in nonetheless awarding prejudgment 

interest. 
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2. Right to Recover Attorneys’ Fees. The parties’ agreement 

provided that fees could be recovered in an action to enforce its payment 

terms.  No payments were ever due or missed; instead, Washington 

Federal sued on claims for nonperformance of other provisions.  The trial 

court erred in nonetheless awarding attorneys’ fees. 

3. Amount of Fee Award.  A significant portion of the fees 

requested by Washington Federal were incurred (a) before there was any 

action to enforce the parties’ settlement agreement and (b) before any 

breach of the settlement agreement was alleged to have occurred.  The 

trial court erred in nonetheless awarding Washington Federal the full 

amount of the attorneys’ fees it claimed. 

4. Failure to make findings and conclusions. The trial court’s 

order awarding fees allowed Washington Federal’s request without 

exception, adopted the order proposed by its counsel without modification, 

and failed to explain its reasoning or address the arguments raised by the 

defendants addressed in this brief.  This error requires reversal and remand 

if the fee award is not reversed entirely (Assignment of Error 2). 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Underlying Litigation1 

Defendant Allen Grant is a long-time and successful real-estate 

developer.  Over the last forty years, he has earned many awards and 

constructed more than 5,000 homes in Arizona, California, Oregon, and 

Washington.  In 2006, Mr. Grant learned of an opportunity to purchase 

and develop property in Sequim, Washington overlooking the Strait of 

Juan de Fuca into large-lot single-family residences (the “Bell Woods 

Property”).  Mr. Grant’s company, ARG Development, LLC, purchased 

the Bell Woods Property with a $3,600,000 loan from Washington 

Federal.  Mr. Grant and his company, Algo, Inc. signed personal 

guarantees securing the bank loan.    

Over the next couple of years, Mr. Grant devoted significant time 

and money to developing the Bell Woods Property.  But in 2008, with the 

Great Recession, Mr. Grant ran into trouble.  Mr. Grant worked closely 

and proactively with the bank, but on March 6, 2009, the bank mailed a 

notice of default to the guarantors.        

From that point forward, the parties’ stories differ, as set forth in 

the original pleadings (CP 1–4 & 5–11).  Briefly, Mr. Grant maintains 

that, through email correspondence and telephone conferences, he and 
                                                 
1 The facts in this part are provided for context and were not at issue in the summary 
judgment and fee award on appeal.  They are set forth in more detail at CP 59–85.   
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Washington Federal’s Ron McKenzie negotiated a deal whereby the bank 

would accept a deed in lieu of foreclosure—an agreement that Mr. Grant 

partially performed and acted in reliance on.  Washington Federal denies 

that the parties reached such an agreement.  There was ample evidence 

corroborating Mr. Grant’s version, including emails, internal bank records, 

and even draft deed-in-lieu paperwork prepared by the bank.  (See CP 66–

74.)     

 Nonetheless, Washington Federal conducted a trustee sale in 

February 2010 and, a year later, commenced this action seeking a 

deficiency judgment against Mr. Grant and Algo as co-guarantors.  CP 1–

4.)  Under RCW 61.24.100(7), a deed in lieu of foreclosure would have 

eliminated Washington Federal’s right to seek a deficiency judgment 

against the guarantors.  Accordingly, Mr. Grant counterclaimed for breach 

of the deed-in-lieu agreement between him and the bank.   

B. The Settlement   

1. Terms 

The parties reached an agreement settling their respective claims 

and defenses at a mediation on August 1, 2012.  (CP 211, at ¶ 9.)  The 

terms of the agreement were set forth in a Settlement Term Sheet executed 

the same day.  (CP 228–29.)  The material portions of the agreement are 

set forth verbatim here, with emphasis added:   
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Washington Federal Savings (“Washington 
Federal”) and Allen Grant and Algo, Inc. 
(“Defendants”) agree to settle the claims asserted in 
the pending litigation between them (King County 
Superior Court Case No. 11-2-07772-1) on the 
following terms. While the parties contemplate that 
these terms will be incorporated into a more 
detailed settlement agreement and release, 
promissory note, deed of trust, and related 
documents, it is understood and agreed that this 
document is itself a binding and enforceable 
agreement. 

1. Defendants agree to pay Washington Federal $1 
million in the form of a promissory note under 
the following terms: 

a. Payment shall be due in 60 months from the 
date of this agreement; 

b.  Interest shall be 0% for the five-year term; 

c. Interest shall accrue at 12% per annum in 
the event of default; 

d. In any action to enforce the note, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover 
its reasonable costs, including attorneys’ 
fees; 

e. The following discounts shall apply if the 
discounted amount is paid in full within the 
time periods set forth below: 
 

If paid within 24 months: 15% 
If paid within 36 months: 10% 
If paid within 48 months: 5% 

2. The note shall be secured by a first position 
deed of trust encumbering one or more 
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properties owned by GO Merced GP (either the 
145-acre parcel or the 56-acre parcel), to be 
determined and effectuated as follows…. 

There are several aspects of this settlement term sheet that are material to 

this appeal: 

 
a. No payment was due before August 2017    

 The terms of the promissory note included that payment was due 

in 60 months.  Because no payments were to be due under the note before 

the 60-month period (i.e., August 1, 2017), there could be no “default” 

under the note’s default-interest provision before then.  This is how Mr. 

Grant understood the default-interest provision as well.  (CP 211, at ¶ 9.)   

 
b. The interest rate was 0% before August 2017 

Nor do any of the general provisions of the Settlement Term Sheet 

allow for recovery of attorneys’ fees or interest.  (See CP 228–29.)  There 

is no provision, for instance, stating that fees or prejudgment interest are 

recoverable in the event of any breach of the agreement generally.  Such 

terms were not overlooked; they merely were not included—for instance, 

there is a provision for arbitration of any disputes regarding the terms of 

the settlement agreement generally, but it does not contain a prevailing-

party fee provision.  (Id. ¶ 5.) 
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c. Attorneys’ fees were recoverable only for failure 
to pay 

Paragraph 1 of the settlement term sheet addresses payment terms, 

to be memorialized in a promissory note.  That paragraph provides that 

attorneys’ fees may be recovered “in any action to enforce the note”—i.e., 

for breach of a payment obligation.  No payments were due before August 

1, 2017.  Thus, there could be no action to “enforce” the payment 

obligations of note (or of the settlement term sheet) before then.  This is 

how Mr. Grant understood the attorneys’-fee provision as well.  (CP 211.)  

In contrast, the obligation to provide security under paragraph 2 of 

the settlement term sheet—the breach alleged by Washington Federal and 

on which it prevailed—makes no provision for attorneys’ fees.  Nor is 

there any general provision for attorneys’ fees in an action to enforce the 

settlement term sheet generally.2  

 
d. Default interest was due only for failure to pay 

In the event of “default” under the note, interest would be 12 

percent.   

 

                                                 
2 The parties did negotiate general enforcement remedies, however: the settlement term 
sheet provided for arbitration to resolve disputes in drafting, for instance.  These 
remedies just did not include fees.  
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2. Mr. Grant’s attempt to perform his obligations 
regarding security  

Over the next several months, Mr. Grant took steps to arrange to 

provide the first-position deed of trust encumbering one of the properties 

in California (the “Merced” and “Oakdale” properties) pursuant to 

paragraph 2 of the settlement term sheet.  (CP 211–12, at ¶¶ 10–14.)  

Indeed, a significant amount of work was involved before the mediation as 

well, to confirm the viability of this option.  (CP 210–11, at ¶¶ 5–8.)  But 

as the bank knew, providing this security would require the participation 

of Mr. Grant’s partner in these properties, Don Olmsted.  (CP 213, at ¶ 

15.)  Don Olmsted is not a party to this case, and the loan from 

Washington Federal did not relate to the Merced or Oakdale properties. 

 Mr. Grant and Mr. Olmsted agreed in principle that they would 

partition the Merced property into two parcels of equal value and 

distribute a parcel to each partner.  (CP 212, at ¶ 13; CP 307, at ¶ 5.)  But 

while Mr. Grant and Washington Federal were working out other issues 

related to carrying out the settlement, Mr. Olmsted informed Mr. Grant 

that a judgment was being or soon would be entered against Mr. Olmsted 

personally in a lawsuit pending in Stanislaus County Superior Court.  (CP 

213, at ¶ 15; CP 307, at ¶ 6.)  As a result, Mr. Olmsted was no longer 

willing to have property distributed to him personally as he and Mr. Grant 

had initially contemplated.  (CP 307, at ¶ 6.)  Without Mr. Olmsted’s 
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cooperation, Mr. Grant was not able to make the arrangements necessary 

to provide the security contemplated under the settlement term sheet.  (CP 

213, at ¶ 15.)   

Mr. Grant remained willing to honor the rest of the terms of the 

settlement term sheet, including preparing and executing a note and 

finding other suitable security.  (CP 213, at ¶ 17.)  But an alternative 

arrangement also needed to address Mr. Grant’s other major creditor, 

Union Bank.  (Id.)  Mr. Grant wanted to ensure that any alternative 

reached was part of a global settlement that included Union Bank.  (Id.)   

Washington Federal rejected Mr. Grant’s offer to discuss an 

alternative agreement regarding security for the settlement terms and 

instead resumed the litigation on the underlying claim for a deficiency 

judgment.  (CP 20–24.)    

 
3. The parties do not negotiate or agree to additional 

documentation 

The parties never executed a “more detailed settlement agreement 

and release, promissory note, deed of trust, and related documents” as 

contemplated by the settlement term sheet.  Counsel did prepare draft 

documents.  (CP 281, at ¶ 4, CP 292–305.)  However, by that time Mr. 

Grant had run into hurdles in making the arrangements with Mr. Olmsted, 

and the documents were never revised, finalized, or agreed to.  Thus, the 



 

13 
 

settlement term sheet—which the parties “understood and agreed… is 

itself a binding and enforceable agreement”—is the sole written 

agreement.  The only agreed terms of the parties’ contract are there.   

 
C. Washington Federal’s Unsuccessful Attempt to Win Summary 

Judgment on Underlying Claim for Deficiency Judgment 

Washington Federal gave notice that it was withdrawing the 

settlement agreement in February 2013.  (CP 20–24.)  Four months later, 

the bank filed a motion for summary judgment on its claim for a 

deficiency judgment based on the personal guaranties of the original loan.  

(CP 32–58.)  On July 17, 2013, Judge John Erlick denied the motion.  (CP 

86–88.)3   

 
D. Washington Federal’s Alternative Claim for Breach of the 

Settlement Term Sheet Agreement  

The day after losing its motion for summary judgment, 

Washington Federal filed a motion for leave to amend its complaint in 

order to stay claims for breach of the settlement term sheet.  (CP 89–97.)  

Although Mr. Grant did not oppose the motion, Washington Federal did 

not file an amended complaint until six months later, in January 2014.  

(CP 98–104.)  Then in March 2014, Washington Federal filed a motion for 

                                                 
3 The trial court denied the bank’s request for summary judgment but granted summary 
judgment dismissing some of Mr. Grant’s counterclaims (but not his claim for breach of 
contract against the bank).  (CP 86–88.)   
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summary judgment for breach of the settlement term sheet.  (CP 175–

189.)  The motion asked for judgment awarding Washington Federal $1 

million plus “default interest” from February 2013 (when the bank 

withdrew the certificate of settlement), and attorneys’ fees.  (CP 176.)   

 
E. The Trial Court’s Orders and Motions for Reconsideration  

The trial court granted Washington Federal’s motion in part at an 

oral ruling, for the principal amount of $1 million, without default interest 

and without attorneys’ fees.  But on cross-motions for reconsideration, the 

court changed the amount of the judgment, added prejudgment interest 

(which had not been requested in the initial motion), and reversed itself on 

the right to fees.   

1. Initial ruling at oral argument 

At oral argument on April 18, 2014, Judge Reina Cahan granted 

Washington Federal’s motion.  (See CP 541.)  Initially, she ruled that 

damages were $1 million and that the bank was not entitled to attorneys’ 

fees.  (Id.)  Because Washington Federal had not asked for prejudgment 

interest in its motion (but raised it at oral argument), the Court asked the 

parties to brief that issue.  (Id.)   

2. Order following cross-motions for reconsideration 

As instructed by the Court at oral argument, the parties submitted 

further briefing addressing the issue of prejudgment interest.  (CP 144–
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151, 142–44.)  In addition, both parties moved for reconsideration of the 

Court’s oral ruling.  (CP 144–151, 140–150.)  Mr. Grant asked the Court 

to reconsider the award of $1 million, arguing that Washington Federal 

was only entitled $850,000 under the terms under the settlement term 

sheet.  Washington Federal asked the court to reconsider its order denying 

attorneys’ fees. 

The trial court ended up reversing itself on both counts.  The court 

reduced the amount of the damage award $850,000 but ordered that 

Washington Federal was entitled to attorneys’ fees.  (CP 540–42.)  In 

addition, the court ordered that Washington Federal was entitled to 

prejudgment interest.  (CP 542.)  The latter two issues (attorneys’ fees and 

prejudgment interest) are the subject of Mr. Grant’s appeal. 

3. Award of attorneys’ fees and costs 

Washington Federal subsequently filed a motion for attorneys’ fees 

and costs and entry of a final judgment.  (CP 543–560.)  The bank sought 

over $150,000 in fees and costs.  (CP 566.)  This was the total fees and 

costs incurred from after August 1, 2012 (the date of the mediation).  

Thus, Washington Federal’s request included fees and costs incurred 

between February and July of 2013 in pursuit of its unsuccessful motion 

for summary judgment on the underlying loan guarantees.  (CP 564, 600–
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645.)  It also included fees incurred before the alleged breach of the 

settlement term sheet on February 11, 2013.  (Id.)   

Mr. Grant objected that the settlement term sheet did not provide 

for an award of attorney fees for an action to enforce its terms and that, in 

any event, the amount requested included fees and costs incurred in 

unrelated and unsuccessful work.  (CP 649–660.)  Yet the trial court 

adopted the bank’s findings and conclusions in its order verbatim, 

awarding at the full amount requested without explanation.  (CP 694–698.)   

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

“The standard of review of an order of summary judgment is de 

novo, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court.”  

Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003).  This 

standard applies to the first assignment of error, addressed in part IV.D.   

Where the parties dispute the legal conclusions resulting from the

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