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

(CP 507.) 

Thus, because these documents expressly comprise part of the 
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parties' intent, and such documents were drafted and not objected to by 

Grant, these documents become especially useful in construing the 

Settlement Agreement to determine the intent of the parties on the 

damages issue. 

The Note drafted following the Settlement Agreement (to which 

Grant had no substantive objection) included the following: 

1. PAYMENT. This Note shall be due and payable by 
on or before sixty (60) months from the date hereof. 

4. PREPAYMENT DISCOUNT: Maker may prepay 
part of the balance owed under this Note at any time without 
penalty. The amount due under the Note shall be discounted 
as follows ifthe discounted amount is paid in full within the 
time periods set forth below: 

If paid within 24 months of the date of this Note: 15% 
If paid within 36 months of the date of this Note: 10% 
If paid within 48 months of the date of this Note: 5% 

6. DUE ON SALE. This Note is secured by a Deed of 
Trust and a Pledge of Membership Interest (the "Collateral") 
and the property described in such security instruments may 
not be sold or transferred without the Holder's consent. The 
breach of this provision shall constitute and [sic] an event of 
default, and Holder may declare all sums due under this Note 
immediately due and payable, unless prohibited by applicable 
law. 

16. DEFAULT. Eachofthefollowingshallconstitutean 
event of default under this Note: (a) Maker's failure to pay 
this Note when due; (b) Maker's failure to comply with or to 
perform any other term or obligation of Maker contained in 
this Note or contained in the deed of trust, the pledge or any 
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other agreement by which this Note is secured[.] 

(CP 502-504, bold in original, underlineation added.) 

The Court should construe the Settlement Agreement with the aid 

of those documents. The Note addresses acceleration in the event of 

default: "Defendants agree to pay Washington Federal $1 million in the 

form of a promissory note under the following terms: ... Interest shall 

accrue at 12% per annum in the event of default." (CP 488.) A "default" 

under the Settlement Agreement includes the failure to provide the 

promised collateral. 

Essentially, Grant asks this Court to revise section l(e) of the 

Settlement Agreement to read "The following discounts shall apply if the 

discounted amount is paid in full or if Grant decides in bad faith not to 

perform his obligations herein ... ". (CP 160.) The Court should decline to 

do so. The expectation of the parties was that Washington Federal would 

get $1,000,000, unless Grant paid early. Grant did not pay early. 

Washington Federal would be in a far better position had the 

contract been fully performed. Grant agreed to sign a promissory note, 

providing for acceleration of the debt in the event of default. Grant's own 

actions and testimony show that this provision was intended by the parties. 

Washington Federal gave a discount of millions of dollars in exchange for 
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the security promised. Accordingly, the trial court properly awarded 

Washington Federal $1,000,000 for breach of the Settlement Agreement in 

its initial ruling and erred when it reconsidered that facet of its ruling. 

C. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled That Washington Federal Is 
Entitled to Its Attorney Fees and Costs. 

Attorney fees must be based on a contract, statute, or recognized 

ground in equity. Dayton v. Farmers Ins. Group, 124 Wn.2d 277, 280, 

876 P.2d 896 (1994). RCW 4.84.330 provides that a contract containing 

an attorney fees provision entitles the prevailing party in an enforcement 

action to recover reasonable attorney fees and costs. Lane v. Wahl, 101 

Wn. App. 878, 884, 6 P.3d 621 (2000). 

The original Promissory Note provides: 

If the Lender seeks the services of an Attorney (whether 
Lender's employee or outside counsel) to enforce any 
provision of this Note, Deed of Trust, the Construction Loan 
Agreement or Land Loan Agreement (if any), or other 
promises of the Borrower as contained in the loan documents, 
the Lender shall be entitled to all of its attorney's fees and 
costs of enforcement[.] 

(CP 323.) 

The Deed of Trust provides: 

In the event the Loan Documents are referred to an attorney 
for enforcement of Lender's rights or remedies, whether or not 
suit is filed or any proceedings are commenced, Borrower 
shall pay all Lender's costs and expenses (including Trustee's 
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fees, attorneys' fees and attorneys' fees for any appeal, 
bankruptcy proceeding or any other proceeding), accountants' 
fees, appraisal and inspection fees and cost of a title report. 

(CP 330.) 

The Settlement Agreement provides: "in any action to enforce the 

note, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable costs, 

including attorneys fees". (CP 160.) 

Washington authority makes two consistent and unambiguous 

holdings in interpreting fee provisions. The first is that under RCW 

4.84.330, "unilateral" attorney fee provisions are construed to be bilateral 

and entitle the prevailing party to an award of fees and costs in any dispute 

in which such a clause is alleged to apply. First-Citizens Bank & Trust 

Co. v. Cornerstone Homes & Dev., LLC, 178 Wn. App. 207, 218-19, 314 

P.3d 420 (2013); Yuan v. Chow, 96 Wn. App. 909, 916, 982 P.2d 647 

(1999). The purpose behind this principle has been explained as designed 

to "prevent oppressive use of one-sided attorney's fees provisions". 

Herzog Aluminum, Inc. v. General Am. Window Corp., 39 Wn. App. 188, 

196, 692 P.2d 867 (1984). 

Thus, courts seek to avoid a situation where one party has a "free 

ride"; a chance to recover attorney fees if they should prevail, but to 

successfully defend a motion for fees if they should lose. 
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Grant's counsel was aware of these cases when he claimed an 

entitlement to fees as a prevailing party in a letter prior to summary 

judgment: 

We are also mindful of the First Citizens Bank & Trust v. 
Cornerstone Homes & Development case, in which your 
client filed an amicus brief, and others like it. We will argue 
that the related-document doctrine applies in this case as well, 
thus precluding Washington Federal from recovering on the 
personal guarantees, (and entitling Mr. Grant to recover 
attorneys' fees as well). 

(CP 386.)6 

First-Citizens had facts directly analogous to how Grant viewed 

this case. A lender non-judicially foreclosed and sued the guarantors for a 

deficiency. First-Citizens, 178 Wn. App. at 218. The trial court granted 

summary judgment to the lender and awarded attorney fees based on the 

loan documents. Id. at 218. The appellate court reversed judgment in 

favor of the lender, finding that the loan documents were not enforceable 

against the guarantors. Id. Despite the non-applicability of the agreements 

to the case, the guarantors were awarded their fees. Id. at 219. 

Grant was fully aware of the line of cases that would render the 

unilateral fee provisions to be bilateral. (CP 386.) And yet, after he did 

6 Grant's Opening Brief ignores the position previously taken by Grant with respect to 
attorney fees for the prevailing party and cites no authority related to the bilaterality of 
attorney fee provisions. These omissions are both shocking and telling. 

-22-



not prevail below, he challenged Washington Federal's right to attorney 

fees. To allow Grant to recover his fees if he had prevailed (as he clearly 

would have under First-Citizens), but deny fees to Washington Federal 

here, would be to blatantly violate the principle underlying RCW 4.84.330 

and the cases interpreting it. 

Grant may argue that he was claiming that he would prevail in an 

action on the underlying loan documents, but not in an action for breach of 

the Settlement Agreement. Such an argument would be factually 

inaccurate and legally irrelevant. Grant's counsel claimed an entitlement 

to fees in a letter dated January 6, 2014; over five months after the parties 

stipulated to the language of the Amended Complaint included with 

Washington Federal's Motion to Amend. (CP 386; CP 1366-1368.) 

Further, because Washington Federal requested attorney fees in the 

Amended Complaint, Grant would have been entitled to his fees if he 

successfully defended those claims as well, under the same rationale 

delineated above. Thus, a fee award to Washington Federal is similarly 

compelled by the principle of those cases. 

Grant thus implicitly argues that the Settlement Agreement 

intrinsically vitiates the right of attorney fees to the prevailing party in the 

lawsuit simply because its fee provision references only "actions to 
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enforce the note". (CP 160.) Neither authority nor logic suggests that it 

should. 

Grant's refusal to perform the Settlement Agreement resulted in 

additional litigation; both to enforce the Settlement Agreement itself and 

on the underlying Loan Documents. All of these actions took place "in an 

action in which it is alleged that a person is liable on a contract". RCW 

4.84.330. This is sufficient to entitle Washington Federal to an award of 

fees and costs as the prevailing party. 

Grant argues that he subjectively believed that the "attomeys'-fee 

provision" in the Settlement Agreement was to be narrowly applied only to 

payment defaults. (Opening Brief, p. 10, citing CP 211.) This is both 

implausible and irrelevant. The notion that Grant scrutinized the 

Settlement Agreement as the mediation was winding down to ensure that 

he could not be sued for his fees if he breached other provisions of the 

Settlement Agreement strains credulity and would constitute bad faith 

even if true. 

More fundamentally, as detailed above, RCW 4.84.330 and cases 

interpreting it broaden the availability of fees beyond the terms of such fee 

provisions. And Grant's subjective understanding of what the provision 

means is inadmissible evidence of its meaning. RSD AAP, LLC, l 90 Wn. 
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App. at 315. 

The prevention of performance doctrine provides an additional 

basis to render improper a denial of Washington Federal's attorney fees, 

based on the language in the promissory note that Grant improperly 

refused to sign. 

"A party to a contract cannot avail himself of nonperformance 

where the nonperformance is caused by his acts." Pac. County v. 

Sherwood Pac., Inc., 17 Wn. App. 790, 567 P.2d 642 (1977) (citing Wolk 

v. Bonthius, 13Wn.2d217,219,124P.2d553 (1942)). "The purpose of 

the rule is to prevent a party from benefitting by its wrongful acts." Wolk, 

13 Wn.2d at 219. 

Here, the Settlement Agreement provides that in "any action to 

enforce the note, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its 

reasonable costs, including attorneys [sic] fees." (CP 160.) The Note, in 

turn, provides in pertinent part: 

This Note is secured by a Deed of Trust and a Pledge of 
Membership Interest (the 'Collateral') and the property 
described in such security instruments may not be sold or 
transferred without the Holder's consent. The breach of this 
provision shall constitute and [sic] an event of default and 
Holder may declare all sums due under this Note immediately 
due and payable, unless prohibited by applicable law. 

(CP 358.) 
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The Note provides for "attorney fees and costs incurred collecting 

sums due ... after default or maturity." (Id., emphasis added.) 

Washington Federal amended its complaint to add a claim to 

recover $1,000,000, to enforce both the underlying Promissory Note and 

the Note that Grant refused to sign. But Grant never objected to the terms 

of either note. He should not now benefit from his failure to sign the latter 

(an undisputed breach of the Settlement Agreement) by claiming that he is 

not liable for attorney fees when such an award is clearly otherwise 

permitted. 

Finally, Grant breached the Settlement Agreement. "A breach or 

non-performance of a promise by one party to a bilateral contract, so 

material as to justify a refusal of the other party to perform a contractual 

duty, discharges that duty." 224 Westlake, LLC v. Engstrom Props., LLC, 

169 Wn. App. 700, 725, 281 P.3d 693 (2012) (citing Jacks v. Blazer, 39 

Wn.2d 277, 285, 235 P.2d 187 (1951)). 

Even if the language of the Settlement Agreement's fee provision 

were written in such a way as to excuse Grant's duty to pay Washington 

Federal's fees for breaching a duty other than a duty to pay, Grant's breach 

of the Settlement Agreement vitiates any duty to so narrowly construe that 

prov1s10n. Thus, the various other bases for entitling Washington Federal 
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to attorney fees remain enforceable. 

The second unambiguous holding of fee cases is that where fees 

are recoverable under RCW 4.84.330, an award of attorney fees is 

mandatory; the Court's only discretion is as to the amount. Kofmehl v. 

Steelman, 80 Wn. App. 279, 908 P.2d 391 (1996). Thus, it would have 

been reversible error to deny an award of fees below and it would be error 

to reverse the trial court's fee award on appeal. 

The authority cited by Grant in his Opening Brief does not compel 

a different result. C-C Bottlers, Ltd. v. JM Leasing, Inc., 78 Wn. App. 

384, 896 P.2d 1309 (1995), distinguished between claims "arising out of 

the contract" and "permissive counterclaims" for securities fraud. C-C 

Bottlers, 78 Wn. App. at 388. Here, all of the fees sought pertain to the 

claims for breach of contract with attorney fee provisions. 

Hindquarter Corp. v. Property Development Corp., 95 Wn.2d 809, 

631 P .2d 923 (1981 ), is similarly unavailing. The primary holding of 

Hindquarter is that a landlord is not obligated to renew a lease with a 

tenant in monetary default. Hindquarter, 95 Wn.2d at 814. Then, without 

citation to authority or further explanation, the Court stated that "the terms 

of the lease authorized attorney's fees only for curing defaults, and the 

award of fees should reflect only those services rendered toward that end". 
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Id at 815 (emphasis added). 

Washington Federal incurred all of the fees awarded in "curing 

defaults" by Grant. In addition to the defaults of the underlying loan 

documents, two distinct defaults of the Settlement Agreement formed the 

basis of the Amended Complaint and the fees incurred thereafter. 

Hindquarter does not compel a different result than reached by the trial 

court here. 

Finally, Grant's reliance on Be/for USA Grp., Inc. v. Thiel, 160 

Wn.2d 669, 160 P.3d 39 (2007), is also misplaced. This en bane decision 

reversed an award of attorney fees for successfully enforcing an arbitration 

clause. Be/for, 160 Wn.2d at 670. The Court then noted that "Belfor has 

not yet prevailed in collecting under the contract." Id at 671. Thus, at the 

time of the award, it was not yet clear who had prevailed on the merits, 

because the issue for which fees were sought pertained only to the forum 

of the action. Here, in contrast, all of the fees were related to the merits. 

The Court should affirm the trial court's award of fees and costs. 

D. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion as to the Amount 
of Attorney Fees Awarded. 

The trial court chose to segregate Washington Federal's fees by 

awarding fees and costs incurred after the execution of the Settlement 
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Agreement. Grant concedes that this Court reviews the amount of attorney 

fees awarded for abuse of discretion. (Opening Brief, p. 17; see Berryman 

v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 312 P.3d 745 (2013).) 

Grant makes several arguments related to various aspects of the 

fees awarded. None should persuade this Court to rule that the trial court 

abused its discretion. 

Grant posits that fees incurred prior to the amendment of the 

complaint cannot be awarded because "before July 18, 2013, there was no 

action to enforce the settlement term sheet". (Opening Brief, p. 28.) The 

sole support cited for this proposition is Int 'l Ass 'n of Fire Fighters, Local 

46 v. City of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 42 P .3d 1265 (2002) ("IAFF'). In 

IAFF, the Court construed the fee provision in RCW 49.48.030 broadly to 

include fees for an arbitration proceeding. IAFF, 146 Wn.2d at 32. 

Nothing in that case's holding or reasoning suggests that the trial 

comi abused its discretion by awarding fees incurred both before and after 

the amended complaint in the same lawsuit; where one claim was 

successful as a matter of law and the other was abandoned as moot before 

its success was adjudicated. This is particularly true where the trial court 

did segregate the fees to not award fees incurred prior to execution of the 

Settlement Agreement. 

-29-



Grant similarly posits that the trial court abused its discretion in 

awarding fees "unrelated to the claims on which the bank prevailed". 

(Opening Brief, p. 29.) This section of Grant's Opening Brief includes no 

citations to authority. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a 

proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may 

assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." Bale v. 

Allison, 173 Wn. App. 435, 450, 274 P.3d 789 (2013). 

The fallacy of Grant's position is that it seeks to cast the fees 

incurred prior to amendment as not "fee-authorized claims". See 

Loeffelholz v. C.L.E.A.N, 119 Wn. App. 665, 690-91, 82 P.3d 1199 

(2004). But fees were authorized for this claim under the loan documents,

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